S 275843

**IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE  
STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

---

JJD-ELK GROVE, LLC

*Plaintiff and Appellant,*

v.

JO-ANN STORES, LLC

*Defendant and Respondent.*

---

On Review From The Court Of Appeal  
For the Third Appellate District,  
Division One, 3rd Civil No. C094190

After An Appeal From the  
Superior Court For The State of California,  
County of Sacramento, Case Number 34-201900248163,  
Hon. Shama H. Mesiwala

---

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT JJD-HOV ELK GROVE, LLC'S  
OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

Whitney, Thompson & Jeffcoach LLP  
Marshall C. Whitney, #82952  
[mwhitney@wtjlaw.com](mailto:mwhitney@wtjlaw.com)  
Jacob S. Sarabian, #322108

## ISSUE PRESENTED

1. What analytical framework should apply in determining the enforceability of co-tenancy provisions in retail lease agreements?

**Answer:** Whether the provision bears a reasonable relationship to the range of actual damages the parties could have anticipated would flow from the failure of the co-tenant to open.

2. Did the Court of Appeal correctly determine that the co-tenancy provision in this case is enforceable?

**Answer:** No. Analyzed under Civil Code § 3275, the penalty imposed on JJD-HOV bears no reasonable relationship to the harm the parties could have anticipated from the failure of the co-tenant to open, especially given the absence of any loss whatsoever to Jo-Ann. Analyzed under Civil Code § 1671, the provision remains an unreasonable penalty given the lack of anticipated or actual damage to Jo-Ann, particularly so when the application of the exact same penalty (“Substitute Rent”) applies to wildly different circumstances, rebutting any presumption it represents a reasonable effort to approximate the harm caused.

## INTRODUCTION

The law, like equity, abhors a forfeiture. (Civ. Code § 1442; *Hopkins v. Woodward* (1932) 216 Cal. 619, 622.) The facts establish that Appellant JJD-HOV Elk Grove (the landlord) will



suffer a forfeiture if the co-tenancy provision in its lease with Respondent Jo-Ann Stores (the tenant) is enforced. The question is whether JJD should suffer this forfeiture because the parties' retail lease agreement was negotiated by commercially sophisticated parties, as the Third District has held. Twenty-five years ago, in *Ridgley v. Topa Thrift & Loan Ass'n* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 970 (*Ridgley*), this Court in finding a functional late fee on a loan to be an unenforceable penalty, answered that question in the negative, making clear the State's codified protection against contractual forfeitures applies to all manner of contracting party:

The dissent suggests a different set of rules must apply because this was an "arm's-length commercial transaction." (Dis. opn., post, at p. 983.) That plaintiffs are small business owners rather than consumers, however, does not deprive them of section 1671's protection against unreasonable penalties **or of the right to relief from contractual forfeiture under section 3275.** Similarly, we reject Topa's oral argument suggestion that our *Garrett* decision does not apply because it predates the 1977 repeal of former section 1670 and the simultaneous amendment of section 1671. Nothing in the 1977 legislation indicates an intent to abrogate *Garrett's* analysis of unjustified late fees as unenforceable penalties, an analysis that has been cited and followed in several post-1977 decisions (*see, e.g., Perdue v. Crocker National Bank*, supra, 38 Cal.3d at p. 931; *Baypoint Mortgage Corp. v. Crest Premium Real Estate etc. Trust*, supra, 168 Cal.App.3d at pp. 829-830) and **which reflects as well the longstanding and still operative principle of allowing relief from contractual forfeitures.**

(*Ridgley, supra*, 17 Cal. 4th at 981 fn.5 (emphasis added).)

This Court’s precedent establishes a simple, equitable, and fair bright line rule, consistent with the legislative and judicial history of this State, that should not be disturbed: no contractual provision will be enforced if it operates as a penalty.

California’s Civil Code, like many jurisdictions throughout the world, contains an express prohibition against contractual penalties. (Civ. Code § 3275.) This legislatively enacted provision, unchanged since the Code’s passage in 1872, helps ensure that contracts under California law serve a rational economic purpose rather than function like a lotto where a dollar in default gives a million in reward. As repeatedly explained by this Court:

“A penalty provision operates to compel performance of an act [citation] and usually becomes effective only in the event of default [citation] upon which a forfeiture is compelled without regard to the damages sustained by the party aggrieved by the breach [citation]. The characteristic feature of a penalty is its lack of proportional relation to the damages which may actually flow from failure to perform under a contract. [Citations.]”

(*Ridgley, supra*, 17 Cal.4th at 977 [quoting *Garrett v. Coast & Southern Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn.* (1973) 9 Cal.3d 731, 739].)

In *Grand Prospect Partners, L.P. v. Ross Dress for Less, Inc.* (2015) 232 Cal.App.4th 1332 (*Grand Prospect*), the Fifth District Court of Appeal applied this general framework to the specific case of co-tenancy provisions in retail lease agreements, which impose a loss (through reduced rent) on landlords if there fails to be a certain occupancy rate in a shopping center. The Court of Appeal below rejected that approach, holding, “we may not

rewrite what [the parties] themselves wrote,” and that the payment of Substitute Rent was a provision for “dual or alternative rent provisions rather than an unenforceable penalty.” (Op. at pp. 14-15, 17 [quoting *Aerojet-General Corp. v. Transport Indemnity Co.* (1997) 17 Cal.4th 38, 75].) The Court of Appeal, by apparently defining at least this co-tenancy agreement—though it is the standard type—as a form of alternative performance, ruled it must be enforced as written, effectively immunizing standard co-tenancy provisions in retail lease agreements from penalty analysis under Section 3275. That was error.

While this Court does recognize that a party who has effectively elected an “alternative performance” cannot claim that performance is a penalty, the Court of Appeal below misapplied this Court’s alternative performance analysis. Alternative performance applies when the party subject to the forfeiture undertakes a voluntary act and enforcement of the provision is necessary to preserve the integrity of the agreement. For example:

In contrast to late payment fees, contractual charges for *prepayment* of the loan principal are generally considered valid provisions for alternative performance, rather than penalties or liquidated damages for breach. Payment before maturity is not a breach of the contract, but simply an additional mode of performance on the borrower’s part; the prepayment charge is not a penalty imposed for default, but an agreed form of compensation to the lender for interest lost through prepayment, additional tax liability or other disadvantage.

(*Id.* at 978 [emphasis in original].)

As between these modes of analysis—penalty versus alternative performance—there cannot be any serious doubt about which should apply to co-tenancy provisions in retail lease agreements. The failure of a landlord to satisfy a co-tenancy provision is nothing like prepayment of a loan – a voluntary choice by the party subject to the “penalty” and a provision which exists to ensure the other party to the contract – the lender – receives their benefit of the bargain; why would a lender make a loan and incur significant transaction costs if it could be repaid the very next day with no accounting for the interest the lender expected?

It is for this reason that the trial court and Court of Appeal’s inordinate reliance on *Constellation-F, LLC v. World Trading 23, Inc.* (2020) 45 Cal.App.5th 22 (*Constellation-F*) – a case involving holdover rent – was misplaced. *Constellation-F* concerned a tenant’s uncoerced decision to stay in the leased premises beyond the term and pay an increased rent amount. The *Constellation-F* court refused to relieve the tenant of the volitional choice it made, functionally finding it a valid form of alternative performance. Both *Constellation-F* and *Ridgely* stand for the unremarkable proposition that contract provisions that may appear to be penalties are nonetheless enforceable as forms of alternative performance if the party claiming they are being penalized made a free choice with a specified contractual consequence. Whether it be a tenant deciding to remain in the premises after their lease’s expiration and paying increased rent (*Constellation-F*), or a borrower choosing to escape a high interest

rate loan to pay it off earlier (*Ridgley*), neither circumstance is similar to the failure of a co-tenant to open, something that is not a “choice” of JJD’s.<sup>1</sup> The failure of a contractual condition (occupancy drops below 60%) is also unlike an affirmative act which exists in the case of alternative performance (like prepaying a loan or staying in the premises).

Given that co-tenancy provisions cannot reasonably be classified as forms of alternative performance, the relevant standard must then be either the neutral penalty analysis of *Grand Prospect* or the rebuttable presumption of enforceability applicable to commercial agreements under Civil Code Section 1671. Either standard invalidates the co-tenancy provision at issue in this litigation.

The rule of *Grand Prospect*, modeled after this Court’s decision in *Ridgley*, is that the enforceability of a co-tenancy provision requires “the comparison of (1) the value of the money or property forfeited or transferred to the party protected by the condition to (2) the range of harm or damages anticipated to be caused that party by the failure of the condition.” (*Grand Prospect, supra*, 232 Cal.App.4th at 1358.) “If the forfeiture or transfer bears no reasonable relationship to the range of anticipated harm, the condition will be deemed an unenforceable

---

<sup>1</sup> If interpreted loosely enough, every penalty case involves a “choice.” Want to avoid a late fee equal to two percent of an outstanding loan? (*Garrett v. Coast & Southern Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn.* (1973) 9 Cal.3d 731.) “Choose” to make the payment on time. Accepting the Court of Appeal’s reasoning dangerously blurs the line between enforceable contract conditions and penalties such that any penalty could be enforced as a choice.

penalty.” (*Ibid.*) Similarly, Civil Code section 1671 provides “a provision in a contract liquidating damages for the breach of the contract” may be found to be an unenforceable penalty if “the party seeking to invalidate [it] establishes [it] was unreasonable under the circumstances existing at the time the contract was made.” (Civ. Code, § 1671, subd. (b).) Thus, under either *Grand Prospect* or Section 1671, a contract provision will not be enforced if it is a penalty, and a provision is a penalty if it is unreasonable; *i.e.*, there is no reasonable relationship between the breach and contractual result.

In bypassing the *Grand Prospect* analysis (and refusing to engage in a Section 1671 analysis), both the trial court and Court of Appeal placed great emphasis on the fact that this provision was negotiated—and effectively all retail lease agreements are negotiated. That negotiation, however, does not immunize the contract from a penalty analysis, and there is no legal authority holding otherwise. This is especially so when Jo-Ann offered no evidence that the parties attempted to approximate what damage might flow from JJD’s temporary inability to fulfill the co-tenancy provision or that vacancy would impact its profitability. This fact is demonstrated by the lease itself, with the chosen measure of damage, the much-reduced “Substitute Rent” term, applying to a host of potentially different circumstances, such as the opening of a church, an adult book store, a gun range, a school, a gym, or an explosives warehouse in the mall, or the failure of a co-tenant to open. While there is no conceivable equivalence among these occurrences—the consequence to Jo-

Ann's remains the same: a windfall of over \$30,000 per month because it need only pay "Substitute Rent."

In choosing to value the generic notion that negotiated contracts should be enforced as written over one of the California Legislature's time-tested regulations of negotiated contracts, the Court of Appeal below has imperiled all contractual regulation. Agreements to gamble can be negotiated, as can agreements to usurious loan rates. Agreements to engage in discrimination, like agreements to waive un-waivable protections, are just as easily a product of negotiation. But calling a penalty for renting to a minority business owner "alternative performance" cannot—and should not—save it. "To so hold would be to condone a result which, although directly prohibited by the Legislature, may nevertheless be indirectly accomplished through the imagination of inventive minds." (*Garrett, supra*, 9 Cal. 3d at 737.)

This is particularly so where the California Legislature has demonstrated that it knows perfectly well how to exempt certain classes of contract from penalty analysis (*e.g.*, Welf. & Inst. Code § 14018.5), has not done so for retail lease agreements, and has acquiesced in the judicial decisions interpreting Section 3275. If Jo-Ann desires to contract for windfalls outstripping any reasonable relation to its potential damages, it may petition the Legislature to craft an exception. In the meantime, it should pay its rent or, in some future case, elect to offer evidence of actual damages (which Section 3275 still allows it to recover), or prove that any default by JJD was a "grossly negligent, willful, or

fraudulent breach of duty” (in which case Section 3275’s terms would allow recovery of even the penalty).

JJD respectfully submits that the judgment below should be reversed and rendered in its favor.

### **FACTS & PROCEEDINGS**

As the Court of Appeal noted, “the facts are largely undisputed.” (Op. at p. 2.) JJD-HOV Elk Grove, LLC (“JJD”) is a family-owned commercial landlord that operates a shopping center in Elk Grove, California. (*Id.* at p. 3; AA 447.2) For all relevant purposes, JJD leased approximately 35,000 square feet of space to Jo-Ann Stores, LLC (“Jo-Ann”), a national retailer of fabric, sewing supplies, and related items, in 2003. (*Id.* at p. 3; AA 426.) The parties’ lease contains a co-tenancy provision.

“Cotenancy requirements are generally found only in retail leases,” and “condition[] a retail tenant’s opening for business, or continuing operation of its business at the designated premises, on the opening for business or continued operation by other tenants in the shopping center.” (Op. at pp. 6-7 [quoting *Retail Leasing: Drafting and Negotiating the Lease* (Cont. Ed. Bar 2021 supp.) Cotenancy Requirements, § 7.1].) Co-tenancy provisions allow tenants to reduce their rent if a certain number of tenants at the retail space leave or are unopen for business.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> References to the Court of Appeal opinion appear as “Op. at p. \_\_\_.” References to the record in the Court of Appeal are given by “AA \_\_,” which refers to the Appellant’s Appendix.

<sup>3</sup> Prior cases have tended to refer to co-tenancy provisions as “conditions” rather than “covenants,” although they partake of the character of both: a covenant because they are a promise to



The co-tenancy provision in the lease between JJD and Jo-Ann provides: “To induce Tenant to enter into this Lease . . . Landlord represents that it has entered into or shall enter into binding leases . . . for the use and occupancy of either: (x) [three so-called ‘anchor tenants’ or comparable substitutes] . . . or (y) sixty percent (60%) or more of the gross leasable area of the Shopping Center (excluding the Premises).” (Op. at p. 3 [added emphasis removed].) When the co-tenancy provision is not satisfied, the contract provides that Jo-Ann may pay “Substitute Rent” in lieu of the otherwise-applicable “Fixed Minimum Rent.” (*Ibid.*) “Fixed Minimum Rent” at the time the complaint was filed was, and currently is, “\$42,292 per month.” (*Ibid.*) “Substitute Rent” is defined as “the greater of 3.5 percent of Jo-Ann’s gross sales (except pattern sales), or \$12,000 per month.” (*Ibid.*) Jo-Ann has never, across the nearly twenty years of operation at this location, had gross sales sufficient to trigger the percentage-based definition.

---

maintain a certain occupancy rate; a condition because they change the scope of a party’s performance depending whether or not they are satisfied. (Miller & Starr, *Covenants and conditions distinguished* (4th ed., West 2022) 10 Cal. Real Est. § 34:51.) The law favors construction of dual-role provisions as covenants so as to avoid forfeiture. (*Ibid.*) JJD does not press this distinction because, under *Grand Prospect*, it does not matter. (*Grand Prospect, supra*, 232 Cal.App.4th at 1358 [“In other words, an unenforceable penalty bears no reasonable relationship to the range of actual damages the parties could have anticipated would flow from a breach of a covenant or a failure of a condition.” (internal quotation marks omitted)].) To the extent the Court departs from *Grand Prospect* analysis, however, JJD maintains co-tenancy provisions should be construed as covenants.

Failure of the co-tenancy provision is not the only circumstance under which the lease refers to “Substitute Rent.” The lease purports to permit Jo-Ann to pay “Substitute Rent” if any of the following were to open:

A movie theater (except as shown on the Site Plan); auditorium; meeting hall; church; bingo hall or place of public assembly; library; sale or service of automobiles or other vehicles; bar serving alcoholic beverages except as incidental to a restaurant; funeral parlor; massage parlor; animal clinic; discotheque; dance hall (or otherwise for musical/dance reviews or topless/nude shows); karate, gymnasium; skating rink; off-track betting establishment; game room within Two Hundred (200) feet of the exterior of the Premises; amusement arcade, gallery or store within Two Hundred (200) feet of the exterior of the Premises; pinball arcade within Two Hundred (200) feet of the exterior of the Premises; so-called “flea market”; second hand or used goods store or store selling primarily distressed or damaged merchandise; pool room; bowling alley; health club or spa within Two Hundred (200) feet of the exterior of the Premises; so-called “head shop”; night club; school; gun range or gun shop; or any business use which emits offensive odors, fumes, dust or vapors; is a public or private nuisance; emits loud noise or sounds which are objectionable; creates fire, explosive or other hazard; warehousing, except as incidental to a retail business; adult book store or store selling or exhibiting sexually explicit materials . . . .

(AA 260.)

The amount of Substitute Rent was negotiated by the parties, with the initial draft lease setting it at \$2,000 a month. It was subsequently negotiated to the operable provision, *i.e.*, 3.5% or \$12,000 a month. (AA 466.) There is no evidence

indicating why Substitute Rent was increased by 600% from the proposed term as compared to the final agreement; both the proposed term, and what was ultimately agreed to, appear to have been selected at random. (*Ibid.*)

At the trial court level, after having engaged in substantial discovery and with the assistance of counsel, Jo-Ann offered the following evidence to support its claim that the co-tenancy provision represents a reasonable effort to approximate damage:

**Statement:** Neither the Lease nor any documentation from the initial negotiations contain any information as to the *basis* for the penalty other than that the co-tenancy provision was an "inducement" to get Jo-Ann to sign the Lease.

**Opposition:** Disputed, as Sections 15 and 2(u) of the Lease does not constitute a "penalty" (nor were ever referred to in the Lease as a "penalty"), and, further, as part of the negotiation of the terms of the original Lease Agreement in 2003, the parties discussed, negotiated and agreed upon the terms of the "Co-Tenancy" provision contained in Section 15. Specifically, in response to Landlord's original "Letter of Intent" dated October 8, 2002, Jo-Ann's "Lease Information Sheet" dated December 4, 2002 noted "Substitute rent of \$2,000 or 3% of sales" and provided Landlord with a "1st draft lease" on December 10, 2002. Thereafter, on February 25, 2003, the parties (with counsel) discussed "what is substitute rent?" and reflected in handwritten notes that the "substitute rent" had been negotiated up, i.e., increased from "(i) 3 % of sales . . . (ii) \$2000/mo." to "3.5% . . . \$12,000.00".

(AA 466, Separate Statement No. 35.) Or, put more simply, Jo-Ann's evidence of reasonableness is a recitation of facts proving the undisputed point that the parties negotiated this term.

Rent payments on the lease commenced September 17, 2004, and six days later, on September 23, 2004, Jo-Ann invoked the co-tenancy provision for the first time to pay Substitute Rent. (AA 951.)

There is no dispute that, during the relevant time period, the co-tenancy provision was unsatisfied. There is a dispute as to whether it was within JJD's power to satisfy the condition. Occupancy dropped below the co-tenancy provision's threshold because, in 2017, an anchor tenant (Toy "R" Us) sought bankruptcy protection, and the bankruptcy court assumed control over the lease and premises. (AA 458-459.)

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