CASE NO. S275843

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

JJD-HOV ELK GROVE, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

JO-ANN STORES, LLC,

Defendant and Respondent.

On Review From the Court of Appeal for the Third Appellate
District,
Division One, Case No. C094190

After an Appeal From the Superior Court for the State of
California,
County of Sacramento, Case No. 34-201900248163,
Hon. Shama H. Mesiwala

**RESPONDENT JO-ANN STORES, LLC'S RESPONSE BRIEF ON
THE MERITS**

Mark E. McKeen (Bar No. 130950)
mark.mckeen@us.dlapiper.com
Eva K. Schueller (Bar. No. 237886)
evi.schueller@us.dlapiper.com
DLA PIPER LLP (US)
555 Mission Street, Suite 2400
San Francisco, California 94105-2933

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

the range of anticipated harms at the time of the contract need correspond to eventual actual harm. Such a rule would be unworkable.

at that location by an acceptable retailer within 12 months. (*Id.* at 1337.) This opening co-tenancy condition was not satisfied because Mervyn’s filed for bankruptcy and did not open its store. (*Id.* at 1340.) Tenant Ross took possession of its space, but *never* opened for business, *never* paid rent, and *terminated* the lease after the 12-month cure period expired. (*Id.* at 1341.) The landlord—who paid over \$2.3 million in tenant improvements before tenant Ross took possession of the premises—claimed that Ross had to pay rent for the full term because the provisions authorizing full rent abatement and termination were unconscionable or, alternatively, an unenforceable penalty. (*Id.* at 1340, fn. 3, and 1342.)

A significant factor in the *Grand Prospect* case was thus that tenant Ross’ “opening” co-tenancy provision was virtually *incurable* because it did not provide the landlord (Grand Prospect) with the opportunity to cure the “opening” co-tenancy condition (so that rent would be paid)—as at the time the lease was made, landlord did *not* own the Mervyn’s parcel (unlike Landlord JJD who owns the entire shopping center), and thus would have to purchase the Mervyn’s property and locate new tenants that would be acceptable substitutes to Ross.

The 2003 Lease at issue here is completely different—Section 15(a), as amended at Landlord’s request in 2004, provides that Tenant (notwithstanding any dispute about comparable substitute Anchor Tenants) may *not* pay only Substitute Rent in the event that “sixty percent (60%) or

more of the gross leaseable area of the Shopping Center” is leased by Landlord. (AA at 0947 [SSUMF, No. 11].) Indeed, in Recital H of the parties’ “Settlement and Mutual Release Agreement” dated August 21, 2007, as regarding its position under Section 15(a) as to *when* and under *what circumstances* Tenant would only pay “Substitute Rent,” Landlord acknowledged in writing this exact “sixty percent (60%) or more of the gross leaseable area of the Shopping Center” argument. (AA at 0954.) In and of itself, this alternative language in Section 15(a) distinguishes the 2003 Lease from the Court’s ruling in *Grand Prospect*.

Landlord JJD attempted to address this distinction by impermissibly inserting an entirely new fact-based argument before the Court of Appeal, *i.e.* that it could not comply with the 60% occupancy condition either. (Appellant’s brief at pp. 14-15.) The basis for this assertion remains unclear, as it is not the case that any tenant’s bankruptcy removed the premises from being relet, but in any event, Landlord made no such assertions in the trial court. (AA at 1030 [as stated by the trial court, “However, as discussed above, under the Lease JJD could also comply with Section 15 by ensuring a 60% occupancy rate. JJD makes no argument that it could not comply with that.”].) As such, this new argument is not properly considered on appeal. (*Peart, supra*, 119 Cal.App.4th at 70 [“[U]nless they were factually presented, fully developed and argued to the trial court, potential theories which could theoretically create ‘triable issues

of material fact’ may not be raised or considered on appeal.”].) And in any event, as explained above, Landlord JJD knowingly accepted the co-tenancy term and its obligations under that term when it purchased the property in 2007. It cannot now be heard to argue that the term it acknowledged, and must have priced into its purchase, is not achievable. (Appellant’s brief at pp. 14-15.)

Indeed, the undisputed nature of the reasons for the original “Substitute Rent” provision here was memorialized by the First Amendment to the 2003 Lease. Again, at Landlord’s specific request (and to accommodate Landlord’s desire to evade increased development fees due to the City of Elk Grove), tenant Jo-Ann agreed to enter into a “First Amendment to Lease” with Landlord dated September 8, 2003. The impact of this Amendment was to *decrease* the total square feet of space required to be leased by Landlord under co-tenancy Section 15(a), and thus make it less likely that Jo-Ann could ever exercise its contractual right to “pay only Substitute Rent for so long as such vacancy or cessation continues” under this Section. (AA at 0947-49.)

Another significant factor in the *Grand Prospect* case was tenant Ross’ remedies under the “opening” co-tenancy provision (i.e., *zero* rent, or full rent abatement, and the right to terminate the lease without *ever* paying rent), and, particularly after the landlord had provided tenant Ross with \$2.3 million in tenant improvements, the right to possession of the space for

over a year *without any payment of rent for that entire one-year period*. Again, the 2003 Lease at issue here is completely different—Section 15(a) does not provide for the potential payment of zero rent to Landlord, and instead requires the monthly payment of the negotiated “*greater*” amount between two “Substitute Rent” options. (AA at 0949.) Moreover, commencing in 2004, tenant Jo-Ann has paid Landlord over *\$9,000,000* in rent and other charges under the terms of the Lease through January 15, 2021 (AA at 0960), and now paid over \$10,490,000 in rent and other charges through January 1, 2023. As such, and as the trial court found, the parties’ negotiated determination in 2003 of the “greater” Substitute Rent amount was reasonably related to Tenant’s potential lost sales or lost profits that Tenant anticipated that it might suffer should Section 15 not be satisfied by Landlord. (AA at 1029-30.)

There is no reported case in California that has extended the *Grand Prospect* decision to a factual scenario and/or the express 2003 Lease provisions in this case, nor anything even close. Applied here, an alternative “Substitute Rent” provision which requires tenant Jo-Ann to pay *reduced*, or tiered or alterative, rent (as opposed to no rent at all as in *Grand Prospect*), and the amount that would potentially be due as rent—percentage of gross sales—reflects the parties’ contractual intent as expressly tied to how well Jo-Ann does financially.

Accordingly, the trial court and the Court of Appeal in *JJD-HOV* thus correctly held that the specific co-tenancy provisions in the 2003 Lease are valid and enforceable as consistent with the parties' mutual intent, as shown by the plain terms of the parties' contractual bargain in 2003 and the subsequent fifteen (15) years of dealings under the Lease. Unlike in *Grand Prospect*, Landlord JJD had a reasonable cure right and the ability to remedy the failed condition to resume the payment of full rent—which has occurred *repeatedly* during the now 19-year tenancy of Jo-Ann under the 2003 Lease. (AA at 0949, 0951-52, 0956-57, 0960.)

3. Recent Court of Appeal's decisions show that the co-tenancy term in the parties' 2003 Lease is not a forfeiture or unenforceable penalty, as the trial court and the Court of Appeal in *JJD-HOV* held.

The trial court and the Court of Appeal in *JJD-HOV* also properly applied guidance from the recent *Constellation-F, LLC v. World Trading 23, Inc.* (2020) 45 Cal.App.5th 22 decision, in which the parties disputed the enforceability of a holdover rent provision in a commercial lease providing for a 150% increase in base rent if the tenant failed to vacate the premises following lease termination. The tenant in *Constellation-F, LLC* successfully challenged the provision at trial, arguing it was an unenforceable penalty barred by Civil Code section 1671 regarding liquidated damages.

On appeal, the Court of Appeal in *Constellation-F, LLC* reversed the lower court's decision, finding that the holdover rent provision *was* enforceable and *not* an unlawful penalty. (*Constellation-F, supra*, 45 Cal.App.5th at 26.) In so holding, the Court cited extensively to *Vucinich, supra*, 51 Cal.App.2d 434 for its finding that holdover rents, or “graduated rents,” are *not* “damages” governed by Civil Code section 1671 (i.e., arising from a “breach”) but simply reflect additional rents negotiated by the parties in arms-length dealings. (*Id.* at 27.) The commercial tenant's burden, according to the Court, was to prove that the landlord had “market power,” which the Court broadly analogized to the power exerted by monopolists oppressing consumers, and that tenant therefore had no competitive alternative to signing the lease at issue. (*Id.* at 27-28.) Based on the absence of any evidence that the landlord had such monopolistic power, the Court determined that the holdover rent provision was valid and enforceable. (*Id.* at 27-29.)

Similarly, and even more recently, the court in *Southern California School of Theology* concluded that a right of first offer clause in a 1957 grant deed transferring land between two universities did not constitute an unenforceable forfeiture despite costing the proponent of the doctrine's application as much as \$36 million. (*Southern California School of Theology, supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th at 8.) The court observed that “[t]he question in each [forfeiture] case is as to what is the contract between the

parties,” and “[c]ontracts are, by their very nature, allocations of risk and responsibility as between the parties.” (*Id.* at 9-10.) Because enforcing the right of first offer clause as written would result in each party getting “that for which they bargained, and that to which they agreed,” the court held that it was not a forfeiture and reversed the trial court’s judgment to the contrary. (*Id.* at 10.)

Instead of recognizing the commercial contract principles underlying *Constellation-F* and *Southern California School of Theology*, as applied by the trial court and Court of Appeal, Landlord JJD spends multiple pages of its opening brief discussing the ratio of losses that should result in a court voiding a contract term as an unenforceable penalty. (Opening brief, pp. 42-47.) But as reflected in *Southern California School of Theology* where a loss of around \$36 million was alleged, and as further explained below, the ratio of alleged loss is not determinative. Rather, the party seeking to void a contract term in a commercial lease (here, Landlord JJD) bears the burden of showing that the term is an unenforceable penalty based on the facts in the record about the parties’ understandings at the time of contracting. As the trial court and the Court of Appeal properly held here, the parties negotiated and determined in 2003 the amount of the substitute rent by explicitly referencing Jo-Ann’s gross sales and occupancy percentage, showing the parties’ agreed-upon allocation of risks at the time of the 2003 Lease. (AA at 1029.) Landlord JJD’s argument risks requiring every

commercial lease co-tenancy term to be subject to judicial oversight as to the exact scope of the parties' negotiations regarding that term.

In sum, both the *Constellation-F* and *Southern California School of Theology* analyses and conclusions are applicable to the reduced "Substitute Rent" provision in the parties' 2003 Lease. Like the right of first offer in *Southern California School of Theology* and the holdover rent in *Constellation-F*, the co-tenancy provision in the 2003 Lease regarding the alternative payment of reduced "Substitute Rent" does not constitute an unenforceable penalty or a forfeiture to Landlord JJD, but rather a negotiated, agreed-upon "tiered" rental rate (i.e., alternative performance) for the leasing of retail property—just as the trial court and Court of Appeal found.

C. The Trial Court and Court of Appeal Properly Distinguished the Other Case Decisions and Legal Arguments Cited by Landlord JJD as Inapposite and Inapplicable to this Declaratory Relief Dispute Over the Enforceability of the Co-tenancy Provision of the Parties' 2003 Lease.

The trial court and Court of Appeal in *JJD-HOV* easily recognized that the other case decisions and legal arguments cited by Landlord JJD (i.e., other than *Grand Prospect*) are inapposite and inapplicable to this dispute over the enforceability of the specific co-tenancy provisions in the parties' 2003 Lease. Each case evaluates a contractual penalty/liquidated

damages provision triggered by a *breach* of the contract at issue, *not* a commercial lease with a negotiated, tiered rental rate structure.

As in the trial court and Court of Appeal, Landlord JJD's opening brief again cites to *Greentree Financial Group, Inc. v. Execute Sports, Inc.* (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 495, to argue that the fact "Jo-Ann has received a windfall, paying less than one-third of the rent it owed in compensation for zero loss caused by the failure of the co-tenant to open," alone makes the co-tenancy term here unenforceable. (Opening brief, pp. 42, 45-46.) Not only does this argument improperly require a comparison of the substitute rent to *actual* damages (a determination that was correctly not before the trial court) as opposed to *anticipated harm at the time of contracting* as instructed by *Grand Prospect*, it also relies on inapplicable caselaw.

In *Greentree Financial*, the issue was not the negotiated, agreed-upon amount of rent owed under a commercial lease (as here), but instead a "*stipulated judgment*" amount that would arise from a "*breach*" of a settlement agreement to resolve a lawsuit seeking payment of financial advisory fees. (*Greentree, supra*, 163 Cal.App.4th 495.) The court thus analyzed whether the liquidated damages *amount* was reasonably related to the alleged *breach* of the settlement agreement. (*Ibid.*) This analysis has no application here, as the trial court and Court of Appeal recognized. Any triggering of the co-tenancy provisions in the parties' 2003 Lease did not constitute any "breach" of the Lease by Landlord, as opposed to the agreed-

upon, reduced amount of rent due by tenant Jo-Ann for a certain period. Again, like the holdover rent in the *Constellation-F* case, the co-tenancy provision in the 2003 Lease regarding the *alternative* payment of reduced “Substitute Rent” does not constitute an “amount of damages” (or liquidated damages) to Landlord JJD, but rather a negotiated, agreed-upon tiered rental rate for the leasing of commercial property. This distinction also accounts for Landlord JJD’s misunderstanding of the trial court and Court of Appeal’s explanation of the applicability of the guidance in *Constellation-F*. (AA at 1032.) The trial court and the Court of Appeal simply noted that the co-tenancy term issue here is not about “damages” arising from any “breach” of the parties’ 2003 Lease.

Again, and as properly explained by the trial court and the Court of Appeal, and like the holdover rent in *Constellation-F*, the co-tenancy provision of parties’ 2003 Lease regarding the *alternative* payment of reduced “Substitute Rent” do not constitute an “amount of damages” upon any “breach” of, or “default” under, the commercial lease at issue, but rather a negotiated, agreed-upon tiered rental rate for the leasing of commercial property.

D. Landlord JJD is Estopped from Now Claiming that the Co-tenancy Provision of the Parties’ 2003 Lease is Unenforceable as a Matter of Law and Judicial Estoppel.

Because the trial court and the Court of Appeal in *JJD-HOV* held that the co-tenancy provision in the parties’ 2003 Lease is enforceable and

does not constitute a forfeiture under *Grand Prospect*, Civil Code section 1671 or Civil Code section 3275, it did not reach tenant Jo-Ann's compelling estoppel argument. But where the facts are undisputed, and there is only one inference to be drawn, whether estoppel applies is a question of law that provides an independent basis for affirming the trial court's Order and thus bears mention here. (*West Washington Properties, LLC v. California Dept. of Transportation* (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 1136, 1143; *Driscoll v. City of Los Angeles* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 297, 305 ["When the evidence [of estoppel] is not in conflict and is susceptible of only one reasonable inference, the existence of an estoppel is a question of law."]; see also *Hoover v. American Income Life Ins. Co.* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th at 1201 ["If the decision itself is correct, there can be no prejudicial error from incorrect logic or reasoning."].)

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